
REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT
MEETING MINUTES

July 24, 2003

A meeting of the Water District Commission was held on July 24, 2003 at the Bedford
Meeting Room.  Present were Chairperson-Marilyn Peterman (Amherst), Jean-Guy
Bergeron (Pelham), Mike Scanlon (Bedford), Andrew Singelakis (NRPC), Dennis
McCarthy (Raymond), Ray Peeples for Frank Byron (Litchfield), Jay Minkarah
(Merrimack), Mary Jeffery (Hollis) and Karen White  (Research Team – Bedford)

Chairperson Peterman went to start the meeting at 6:35 p.m. with no majority we will
have to adjourn, but we will wait until 6:40 p.m.

Chairperson Peterman stated we will approve the minutes of the July 10, 2003 meeting,
I was not here it was chaired by Fred Britton.  Mike Scanlon made a motion to accept the
minutes of July 10, 2003 and Dennis McCarthy seconded.  Chairperson Peterman asked
if there are any corrections.  Vote taken, all in favor, abstaining from the vote was Mary,
Marilyn and Ray.

Chairperson Peterman stated we will hold on approving the minutes of June 26, 2003
until the next meeting as some committee members did not have a copy of the minutes
in front of them this evening.  Chairperson Peterman stated that on the Agenda for the
next meeting she will reminded the everyone to download the minutes and the up to date
Charter.  

Chairperson Peterman stated in the Charter we are on page 12, #5 Non-Competition.
The District shall not sell water to customers in any part of the District with respect to
which any person, any firm or any corporation incorporated under the general statures
has been granted a franchise to operate as a water company as defined in NH RSA.
Karen White stated that Chip is going to give us the RSA #.  Chairperson Peterman
continued … or in which any town, city or any district organized for municipal purpose
operates a municipal water supply system, unless the legislative body of such town, city
or district, such person , or the governing board of such firm or corporation shall consent
in writing to such sale by the District Commission.  Karen White stated it should be just
the District.  

Karen White stated that I think this answers the issues that Cynthia Herman was worried
about in Milford and Jay was worried about in Merrimack.  Karen asked Jay if he would
like to speak on that.  Jay stated he is trying to read to see if that does address the
issue.  Jay stated it does address the water sales part.  Dennis responded by saying that
the Town would have to agree to any wheeling through the Town.  Karen White stated I



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 2

require a legislative vote.  Dennis stated but this doesn’t deal with the wheeling.  Karen
responded it does not, but asked the question,  Do we need to deal with that issue?
Dennis stated he doesn’t, but other Towns might.  

Jay responded that he was going to suggest another line.  Chairperson Peterman said,
suggest it.  Jay stated to add at the very end, the District shall not acquire any land or
other property interest water rights or assets of any municipally owned or operated water
supply system without the consent of its legislative or governing body.  Chairperson
Peterman asked what he was referring to here give a concrete example.  Jay stated that
perhaps unfounded, but the concern in Merrimack is could the District attempt to take
over property or water rights or parts of the system.  Karen White and Chairperson
Peterman stated we don’t have eminent domain.  Jay stated that legislatively we don’t
have the power of eminent domain now, but we very well may have it in the future.
Chairperson Peterman stated we cannot keep it in the charter and the charter would
need to be amended when the legislation is amended, so #6 Eminent Domain has to be
struck.  Your suggestion is mute, because we cannot take it from any Town or other
District unless we purchase it.  Karen White stated you have to have a willing seller.  Jay
stated that changing the legislation is going to be easier than changing the charter.  

Karen White stated that the Attorney General will not approve it.  Mike Scanlon stated
you could add if allowed by state stature, this District shall have rights of eminent
domain.  Dennis asked Jay the question, are you saying that the District cannot
purchase property from the Town or are you saying they cannot purchase any property
in the Town unless the Town approves it.  Jay stated they cannot purchase property of a
municipally owned operated water supply.  Dennis stated they could purchase property
in the Town without the approval.  Mike stated that they cannot purchase that unless the
Town was a willing seller.  Even if this water District had eminent domain authority, I
would have a hard time wondering if the PUC would allow this organization eminent
domain to public property, I just cannot imagine.  

Mike asked Jay, are you talking about assets of the Merrimack Water Village District?
Jay stated yes.  Mike responded, How would it be in the public’s best interest for this
entity to buy that, or take it away from something that it is already doing.  If the Village
District owns it, I am sure it is protecting water shed land, why would it be in the public
interest for this entity to forcibly take it away from Merrimack, when Merrimack is doing
with it what this entity would do with it anyway.  Jay stated that the District would never
have any interest or intention of doing that, but what is the harm of having a line that
says that it won’t for the sake of putting to rest the perception and fear, that does exist.
Mike stated as long as you clearly state we are talking about municipally owned
property, because I would never want this District if there was a private piece of property
that they felt they wanted to buy and have the municipal government say, we would
rather have the chemical plant, which is going to generate revenue even though it might
jeopardize the water shed.  Jay stated as he phrased it, it referred only to the property or
assets of a municipally owned or operated water supply system.

Karen White asked Jay to read it again.  Jay stated it may not be necessarily worded
right…further the District shall not acquire any land or other property interest, water
rights or assets of any municipally owned or operated water supply system without the
consent of its legislative or governing body.  Karen repeated…further the District shall
not acquire land or other property interest, water rights, or any other assets.  Jay stated
that he feels it addresses the issues that Milford was concerned about.  Chairperson



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 3

Peterman stated if it does no harm to be in there.  So it doesn’t preclude us from buying
it if they agree to sell it and without eminent domain at least in this case we cannot take
it.  Mary responded by saying his point is well taken, if we are shooting to actually get
Towns to have this be palatable that we will have a Regional District then you want to
allay those fears.

Chairperson Peterman stated then we can move on to #6 which is Eminent Domain and
Andrew, you feel we should leave it in and say, if allowed by state statue.  Andrew said
or power of eminent domain as permitted by state law.  Mike agreed.  Karen stated so
scratch out for the purposes set forth in and just say as permitted by state statue.  

Chairperson Peterman said lets go on to #7…Establishment of Rates – with a favorable
recommendation of the Commission.  Karen stated we have two bodies, we have the
BOD.  Chairperson Peterman stated and they recommend.  Andrew responded by
saying haven’t we been addressing this by calling it the District.  Karen said we are
begging the question by calling it the District.  Chairperson Peterman went on…and in
conformance with NH RSA 362:4, the District shall establish just and equitable rates or
charges for the use of the water supply system authorized herein, to be paid by any
customer, and may change such rates or charges from time to time.  Such rates or
charges shall be established so as to provide funds sufficient to each year, with other
revenues, if any, to:

a) To pay the cost of maintaining, repairing and operating the water supply system
and each and every portion thereof, to the extent that adequate provision for the
payment of such cost has not otherwise been made;

b) To pay the principal of the interest on outstanding bonds of the District
Commission as the same shall become due and payable;

c) To meet any requirements of any resolution authorizing, or trust agreement
securing, such bonds of the District;

Chairperson Peterman continued… d) To make payments in lieu of taxes as provided in
Section 21.  

Chairperson Peterman asked if we had gotten over to Section 21.  Karen White
responded by stating no.  What that is, was this was set-up so that in any Town where
the District owns land or buildings, we make payments in lieu of property taxes so we
don’t get into that fight of Towns arguing that they are losing money by having the
District instead of a private.  

Chairperson Peterman stated, so to make payments in lieu of taxes provided in Section
21,…continued d) of this charter, as the same become due and payable, upon the
properties of the District to the municipalities in which such properties are situated;

e) To provide for acquisition, maintenance, conservation and appropriate
recreational use of the land of the District; and

f) To pay all other reasonable and necessary expenses of the District.



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 4

No such rate or charge shall be established until it has received a favorable
recommendation of the _________________.  Chairperson Peterman asked if we
should just leave District in here to?  Mike responded to put an underline there because
you don’t know, or state as established by this by-laws.  Dennis asked so the ratepayers
are going to have to approve the rate?  Mike responded that is our intent, but as we fix it.
Karen stated the BOD recommends it and the ratepayer’s board approves.  Chairperson
Peterman stated I think we should just stick with the District until we go back.  Andrew
stated that this is being specific to how the process works.  Chairperson Peterman
stated we have not agreed in principal with that structure and definitively as to what each
of those bodies are going to be done.  We have somewhat of an agreement, but not
really nailed down yet.  Jay stated that what makes sense is circle the part that talks
about the process and put it aside.  Chairperson Peterman agreed, starting to read
again, no such rate or charge shall be established until it has received a favorable
recommendation of the (blank) and after the District.  Karen stated we could come back
to it as we agreed they should hold a public hearing.  

Chairman Peterman responded, let me just go on and read it and I will substitute District
for now where ever it says policy board of commission and we can amend this
part…After the District has held a public hearing at which all the users of the water works
system, the owners of the property served or to be served and other interested parties
have had an opportunity to be hear concerning such rates.  The District shall approve
such rate changes and charges unless it finds that such rates and charges unless it finds
that such rates and charges will provide funds in excess of the amounts required for the
purposes described previously in this section.

Mike wanted to add one thing to the top; we should probably make a new subsection.  I
think the District should be able to put money aside for capital improvements, so they
should have the right to say we are going to put a million dollars a year in the bank.
Chairperson Peterman stated where did you want to put that.  Mike responded, put it as
g).  

Karen suggested how about in a), to pay the cost of maintaining repairing and operating,
usually are Capital Improvements?  Mike stated he doesn’t know how to word it, but they
should have the right to set aside Capital monies.  Karen stated to fund capital reserves
as outlined in the Capital Improvements Program for the District.  Chairperson Peterman
stated, to fund capital reserves.  Karen stated as in compliance with the Capital
Improvements Program approved by the District.  Karen stated if it is above all the
operating expenses, paying off the bonds, above the capital reserves needed as outlined
in the CIP.  

Mike stated that this District is going to have to charge a percentage more than they truly
believe.  At the end of the year, that is when you decide what are we going to do with
that money, are we going to refund it to the Districts?  You want to make sure that
capital improvements are not just funded for excess.  Chairperson Peterman stated that
would be part of the budget, that is why putting that in is good.  I guess if we are running
this just like government at the end of the year, like you said it could be returned.  Mike
stated somewhere in here we have to make sure, we stipulate how that extra money
goes back to the communities.  We had talked about it goes back to the communities
and can be used either to lower the rate of the people in the community or to fund capital
improvements just in that community, so if the Town of Bedford said, we have a check
for ½ million dollars because that was our piece of pie at the end of the year, we can



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 5

either a) lower our water rates to our customers and use that to subsidize the water rates
in Town or we can say that we want to extend the water line down Wallace Road to get
to our school, then we would have the choice.  I don’t think the Town should be able to
take that money and put it into general funds.  I think we want this to say, funding
communities, unless it is specifically used for either improving the current system,
expanding the current system or reducing the rates.  Chairperson Peterman asked the
question, if there were excess funds and everybody got a check back, could you in fact
reduce the rate?  Karen stated think about it, it is the individual ratepayers that sends in
the bill, and so if you are refunding money, you go back to the ratepayer.  

Chairperson Peterman explained that the municipalities do not get the money back, the
municipalities don’t own the system, and the ratepayers do.  Dennis stated the District
owns the system.  Mike responded, but the municipalities are the members of the
District.  Karen responded yes, but it is the District that owns the system, not the
municipalities.  

Jay suggested we jump back a couple of steps; there is a missing chunks here.  We do
not talk about creating a budget, I wonder if we don’t need to.  Andrew responded the
point Mike is rising about having different rates for different communities with different
needs.  Mike stated he envisioned, one of the advantages and one of the things we have
to look at is there is going to be a number of communities, one of the advantages to
being a member community is there has to be a carrot at the end of that stick.  If Bedford
is going to get the same rates and the same breaks as everyone else, why do we want
to be involved in this?  Karen responded, what are the other choices.  Mike stated one of
the other choices is we can be a customer because we get the exact same benefits.  We
talked early on, should the member districts get a discounted rate to non-member district
that just wants to be a customer.  We decided at the end of the year, we would take all
the extra revenue that we generated 2-3%, what ever is considered our slush fund so to
speak, that money would go back to the municipalities that are members.  Chairperson
Peterman stated, wouldn’t it go back to the ratepayers of the municipality.  Mike asked
why shouldn’t the Town be able to invest in its infrastructure?  Chairperson Peterman
stated because the District owns the water system, it is not Bedford’s or Merrimack’s or
Amherst.  Mike stated each municipality has the right to expand their system?
Chairperson Peterman stated, no.  Mike stated that Amherst is expanding its system?
Chairperson Peterman stated only if we get an okay from Pennichuck.  Mike stated the
District would have to approve it if we want to expand, but Pennichuck doesn’t pay for it?
Chairperson Peterman stated the developer pays for it.  If Bedford needed to expand its
water system for the purpose you mentioned, polluted wells and you would be
responsible for that and they would then become customers of the District.  

Chairperson Peterman asked Mike to explain it again.  Mike stated the District sets a
budget and say it is 10 million dollars and we project the rates and it generates 10 million
5 hundred thousand dollars, say the year is over and we made 11 million dollars, the
District has a million dollars sitting in the bank, I say that money needs to go back to the
municipalities that are members of this District.  I am not talking about people who just
want to be a customer; they don’t want to have anything to do with this District.  There
has to be a reason, we have all been sitting here for the last six months going through
this.  Karen White stated it is called revenue sharing.  

Dennis responded, lets take it the other way, we set a budget of a million dollars and we
end up spending 11 million dollars and we only get 10 million dollars in, now the District



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 6

is short a million dollars, does that mean all the Towns pay in to make up that
difference?  

Mike stated that there has to be a reserve.  The District could have the authority to over
spend; it depends on how you set it up.  In the Town of Bedford, if the budget is 18
million dollars, we cannot spend 18 million and 1 dollar, without coming back to the
voters for a special meeting.  My point is that I don’t think the District should be spending
it, we have an extra million dollars in the bank, lets go nuts and get everyone on the
BOD a new car this year!  Chairperson Peterman stated we would reduce the rates.
Mike stated I think we want to return this money to the member Districts.  If each Town
who is a member of this District, not just a customer, should each get a portion.  There
has to be a reason that the municipalities who have come in here and spent all this time
are getting something either a) charge non-member Districts more per gallon, b) reduce
the rates of our customers artificially reduce it for one year or take half a million and
either a) improve part of our system or b) expand part of the system.  

Chairperson Peterman stated that the fact of the matter is, lets not think of it as Town
funds, lets think of it as a corporation that we are selling water to our users.  This is all it
is.  Yes we are members because we are going to run it, but aside from that, we don’t
owe Bedford anything, Amherst or Hollis.  

Jean-Guy stated that without the member communities there is no District.  The
ratepayers can get together and say we are going to buy Pennichuck and without the
government of our communities becoming the stockholders there is no District.
Windham is going to be looking at this and if there are funds available, it should be up to
Windham to decide whether 350 ratepayers save the money or we use that for future
expansion.  

Jay stated he has a few concerns.  1) He feels the District should function with their
budget like a municipality and they should be setting rates to help with expenses.  Yes,
there should be a limit to certain amounts of surplus.  Then the District should make the
choice with whatever remains, spending it depends on how we structure it in our
Charter.  They can invest that money in certain improvement programs or return a
portion to the ratepayers.  I would be very concerned about any concept of funds from
the District being transferred to another party or municipality to be used for purposes that
are not related to providing water services.

Mike responded that is not what I said.  I stated and I was very specific that it had to be
to either reduce rates for the water customers or for the improvement or expansion of
the water system.  I don’t want this money going to general funds.

Chairperson Peterman stated agreed that is what she heard Mike to say.  Andrew stated
that Mike is raising a good point in that there are four different rate structures right now
on the entire system and it is probably going to continue or should that be built into the
Charter and should the community have the right to do additional investments and then
charge it back to the rate payers.  Dennis stated that there is going to be PUC on all of
them, PUC is not going to want us to maintain four different rates, they eventually will
want the rates to come together.  Chairperson Peterman stated and if the ratepayer or
the municipality is going to get this money returned, will the PUC allow you to reduce
your rates and Amherst not to reduce my rates.  Chairperson Peterman responded by
saying she didn’t think this is going to happen.



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 7

Mike asked the question, if I wanted to give a million dollars to the people and just say,
the people in Bedford get free water for the next 3 years would the PUC care?
Chairperson Peterman said that that is a subsidy that you are giving from some outside
source.  Mike said we have to either subsidize our water rates with the extra revenue
generated.  Our ratepayers have over paid.  Chairman Peterman stated they don’t pay it
to the municipalities.  Dennis stated they pay to the District.  Mike stated yes, so either
the District will subsidize the rates next year because they over paid this year or the
municipality will decide to use that money to reinvest in its infrastructure.  Jay stated
didn’t everybody either over pay or under pay equally.  Karen stated yes.  Mike
responded by saying everyone will get a check equally.  Chairperson Peterman stated
everybody wouldn’t advantage the same because every municipality might decide to do
something different.  If you decide to improve your infrastructure and we decide to
reduce rates for the year, we are not similarly advantaged.  Therefore we depend on the
vote.  Mike stated if we need expansion or improvements then we are going to improve.
The ratepayer may not identically benefit, I might get a lesser water bill, and this other
guy is getting an improved infrastructure.  Dennis stated you are making the assumption
that every Town is going to have a different rate and they are not.  Mike said, lets
suppose everyone pays the same and we pay 1/10th of the total rate, then we will get
1/10th, however you want to factor it.  You look at 100% and Nashua paid 80%, then
80% of all the revenue generated came from the City of Nashua.

Chairperson Peterman stated that the District could decide to reduce everybody’s rates
and that would be a vote by everybody or whatever board commission it would be and
the rates would go down.  Or the District can decide that we need to improve
infrastructure for the District, whether it be in Bedford, Amherst, Hollis or whatever and
we would make that investment of that money.  I keep coming back to the fact that we
are running a water company.

Mike asked where is the advantage to being part of this District in forming this District
and putting our municipalities’ necks on the line to get this through, where is the carrot
that we are getting.  Chairperson Peterman stated that is the argument that you have
raised from the beginning.  If the argument is that all of us sitting at the table are going to
belong to the District and Salem walks in and after the fact, we don’t want to belong to
the District, but we want to buy water.  I do not know whether the PUC will allow us to
charge them different rates?  Mike stated that might not be how the legislation went
through but if you remember the PUC has oversight over rates and it says nothing about
percent.  Dennis stated the state law states as long as your rate for your outside users is
not greater than 15%, the interior rate a) not involved.  Mike stated when we buy water
from the City of Manchester, this District is not governed the same.  We fought about this
up in Concord.  PUC will have oversight over all our rates.  Chairperson Peterman stated
that a Town is not in the District and we charge them 15% or more.  Mike stated that the
PUC might state, we want equal rates, so we are not going to let you charge the City of
Salem.  Why shouldn’t the Town of Raymond, the Town of Bedford, the City of Nashua
and everybody else who have been part of this have some advantage?  This is no
advantage.  Chairperson Peterman said that is the advantage.  I am going to charge all
of us members the same, and more for others.  Mike said that is what you say now, that
may not be the way it is in 2 years.  Dennis stated he thought the only advantage we
were going to have was the voice in the process.  Chairperson Peterman stated that too,
but if we are going to sell to a Town that is not part of this District.  Dennis stated he



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 8

didn’t come here to make a corporation that is going to make a profit.   Karen stated he
is trying to figure out how to fund infrastructures.  

Dennis stated in theory if you are running a nonprofit you are going to establish your
rates and your cost of service in such a way that you don’t make a profit.  You take those
funds that maybe profit and put them into infrastructure and fund all the lines you might
have and then if you are still making too much money you lower the rates.  Mike stated
that is for the next year, but what do you do with that money in the bank.  You don’t want
to have your rates bouncing up and down.  Dennis said if you do a good job you can
stabilize your rates and have them stay that way for a long time, but eventually you will
have to raise your rates.  Chairperson Peterman stated just based on inflation.   Dennis
stated it is not like taxes where you set a rate every year.  You are going to try to set a
rate for 5 years.  For the first couple of years you will make some money and put it away.
The next couple of years you will start seeing that you are not putting away the funds
that you need to put away and you are going to decide at this point, we need to re-study
the rates and re-establish a new rate.  Hopefully that is going to be at a reasonable
interval.   

Jay stated you are winning me over because you are raising another issue.  I had not
previously thought that we had reached a consensus that we were going to charge one
rate.  Karen stated we haven’t.  Jay said but that is what we have been saying, we are
all paying one rate, we have said that a few times tonight.  I do not think that Nashua is
going to agree to that.  Andrew responded he didn’t feel they would either.  Jay stated he
could be wrong, but my feeling is most of the municipalities that are part of the core
system are paying a high rate.  I find it very hard to believe that Nashua will agree in
effect reduce the rates of the other municipalities.  The concept and we haven’t gotten to
this either, but you also raise a very good point.  If the District is going to be making the
decision as to where infrastructure is approved and we know that portions of the system
are going to need probably pretty significant improvement, reinvestment, expansion, we
also have the core system to be expanded, how do we ensure that communities like
Bedford ever have a say in how.   If we don’t go with something like Mike is suggesting
that some sort of portion share, I am not sure how we ensure that this happens.  I am
not sure that is the way to go.  Andrew asked how does it work with Pennichuck now?
Karen stated that you would have prioritized capital improvements, just like you do in
your town.  Mike stated there is a difference too, because Pennichuck can sit around
and say if we expand this line we would generate X number of revenue which would
offset our investment and we will make more money, but the District cannot say that.  

Ray stated that right now they are building a water tank 1.3 million dollars in Litchfield,
not because they are expanding their infrastructure but it is because they have to correct
some problems, that is costing them money.  There is one new development that will
come on line eventually and they are charging $600 dollars per house out of 9 houses
that will be in Litchfield and 40 that will be in Londonderry.  You need significant
reserves.  If the District is operating a system like it is operated today, such as
Pennichuck, it will need substantial capital reserves and budgets to handle that.  

Mike stated he is not talking about any of that, this District will have the ability to plan
and to fund capital improvement.  If we need to build a 2 million dollar water tower 5
years from now, we are going to put X number of dollars a year aside that will be part of
our budget.  I am talking about at the end of the year; after you have fulfilled you budget
requirements there is going to be some money left over.  Maybe we build in that they



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 9

can charge 1%, they should have 1% or 2%, whatever it might be and then that money
should get returned, I believe it should be returned to the communities to do one of two
things, either improve or expand their infrastructure or reduce the rates in their
community, depending on their needs.  Chairperson Peterman stated she disagrees.
Ray stated he agrees, but I don’t agree with the mechanism.  I agree it needs to be
returned to the stockholders and citizens that own the water system.  Mike feels that the
owners are the municipalities, it is not the ratepayers, and they didn’t get together to
form this.  Andrew stated it is the members of the District not the owners.  Chairperson
Peterman stated that technically it is the ratepayers that are this District.  Mike stated no,
the municipalities and communities.  Chairperson Peterman stated that we need to
clarify this point, because if we have money left over at the end of the year we add it to
capital reserves, we could pay off bond, or we reduce the rate the following year to
everybody that has paid in and if the problem is that we need an advantage for the
municipalities that have belonged to this District, then I was under the impression that
we would charge members outside of this District a different rate within the law.  That is
one advantage, plus the advantage of running the system and doing what is best for the
interest we all have, which is source protection and land protection.

Mike stated he didn’t think we could sit here tonight and make any assumptions as to
what the rate structure of this District will be in 5 years.  Dennis stated you couldn’t say
we will have a Charter in 5 years.  Mary responded by saying Mike your looking really
hard for the advantages for being part of the District, but I don’t know if this is the place
to look for that, maybe there are other advantages not tied to this.  I feel like the others
that it is much cleaner if you don’t portion it back out to the municipalities.

Mike stated the municipality should get something; monetarily you get lower rates
because you are a member.  Chairperson Peterman stated the ratepayer would.  Mike
stated that we don’t know if the PUC will allow us to charge more money to a non-
member Town.  Dennis stated if they don’t then we don’t service them.  Mike said we
have no choice.  PUC is going to say you charge Bedford the same rate you charge
Nashua.  Andrew responded that you could charge 15% more because it is outside of
the District.  Mike stated that no, they specifically looked at that and said we want PUC.
Basically the way the law reads now is as long as you don’t charge over 15% you are
not under PUC regulation.  This legislation says that the PUC has oversight on rates.
This is on the stuff that just got passed, HB 361.  The PUC might say District, Bedford
decided they didn’t want to be part of it and now you will charge them the exact same
amount that you are charging Raymond.  Bedford now gets the same advantages as
Raymond.  Raymond’s going to say we worked and have taken a big chance and have
done all the stuff and Bedford walks away with the cake.  There should be a mechanism
within this District.

Jean Guy stated that Windham’s reason for being at the table is that 50 years down the
line when we don’t know if there will be enough water and we may need it for growth.  If
the only reason for being here is so that Nashua doesn’t own it and my 350 customers
are at Nashua’s disposal, then it is Windham municipality that is the stockholder and we
are doing this for the whole town, including our rate payers.  Any surplus over and above
the capital provisions, everything that is budgeted, it should be the community that
decides because we are going to be looking for growth.

Chairperson Peterman stated there is a new development coming on and it is going to
have Pennichuck water.  They went to Pennichuck and they agreed to allow them to buy



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 10

into the system.  If Windham grew you would come to the District because you are a
member and we would provide water and the rate payers would be in addition to the
ratepayers that you have now.  Andrew asked if we could say, no additional hook-ups for
the Town that is not a member, is that legal.  Dennis stated you want to look at each one
as they come along.  The District can vote on each connection.  Andrew stated so an
advantage would be that you don’t get any more water if you’re not a member of the
District.  

Karen stated here is the question; I know what Mike is trying to get at.  One of the big
arguments that Nashua’s bond council had presented was that there is an article section
II of the NH Constitution that says you cannot use municipal monies to fund a non-
municipal enterprise, this started with the railroads back in the 1800s.  Lets say we plan
our capital improvements program as a District for the next 10 years and we know that
there are a lot of deficiencies in Nashua and we know where a lot of that money needs
to go and looking at it as a District it is the right place, but for the next 10 years, it is
judged by the District that it is not prudent to invest in a water line down Wallace Road in
Bedford, that is all built out, all the houses are built on it, but they are on wells.  We have
had drought situations and they are begging for water, but that just hasn’t cued up in
these 10 years.  We asked our town attorney could Bedford Town Council even come to
Pennichuck or the District and say here is a million dollars extra; build us a water line
down Wallace Road.  We have been told that we would almost have to form a defacto
municipal water company to get the Town Council to vote to fund into that, so we can
give the money to the District or to Pennichuck to fund that water line.  It is a very obtuse
way of getting a water line even if we were to pay for it.  If it is not in the District's or
Pennichuck’s capital improvement plan.   We are trying to figure out a way to fund
something that we feel is needed, but this won’t cue up for 15 years in the District’s
water line.  Does anyone have any ideas?

Andrew asked, could you have a surcharge from the Town to pay for that investment, a
separate rate to pay for that investment just for Bedford residents?  Jay stated now we
are talking about so many different rates.  Karen stated it could be 24 different rates.
Andrew stated maybe a surcharge would pay for that investment so the Town doesn’t
have to go bond for it.

Dennis spoke to the committee that his Town had a similar issue where there were
people who were out of water and they wanted the Towns water system to run a water
line up to their property.  We at the time did not have the funds.  The Town funded the
water line and charged those per foot, which is the state statue for that improvement and
over 20 something years it was allowed.  Mike stated here is the difference because we
looked at that too.  Down my road we talked to Pennichuck and Pennichuck said great
we will do that, everyone who wants to connect we divide the cost by that.  There are 20
houses on my street, only 10 of us wanted to connect that is $200,000 dollars so I pay
$20,000 dollars I own that pipe and the rights to that pipe for 10 years.  About 10 years
and one day later the guy that didn’t pay a nickel taps into that line for zero.  Dennis
stated not if it is a road and the people have asked to be improved and you bring it up to
Town standards you could charge them a Betterment assessment.

Mike states we are running a water line down Wallace Road, we are tearing up a water
line that is 5 years old because it is undersized and we are bringing it down to the
school.  The school district is paying for that, because they need the water.  We are not
charging anybody on that street, they are all going to have the ability to tag into that



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 11

water line, but none of them are paying.  If I needed water a mile down the road, if we
had a disaster and we needed water a mile down the road and I am running that water
line down that road, I cannot assess all those people who don’t need the water.  Dennis
said you just said your not, but you can.  If you have a road betterment and a majority of
the people in the Town vote that that will happen on that road, everyone of those people
with frontage is going to be assessed that betterment fee whether they want it or not.  It
will be put into their tax bill and they will have to pay it over so many years.

Karen stated that a Betterment assessment could be used for a water line.  Dennis said
that we just bid betterment assessments on an area we had to re-survey a whole
development 250 homes that are all wrong and no one knew where their property was.
We filed legislation to allow us to do it, we re-surveyed the site and gave everyone what
they had and then took that fund ¼ of a million dollars and assessed all those 250
homes a betterment charge over so many years that they have to pay back to the Town.
Jay asked how is that fair?  Dennis stated it is eminent domain.  

Jay asked the question, if we as a District vote that we are going to put a water line, we
have a similar situation in Bedford and we have a similar situation in Merrimack, but we
vote that the District is going to fund the water line in Merrimack, but we don’t fund the
one in Bedford.  How is it fair that the Bedford residents have to suffer the betterment?
Andrew asked how does it happen now?

Dennis states that Pennichuck makes the decision now with no input.  Mike stated now it
is based on what Pennichuck thinks it could get for a return on its investment.

Jay asked, how do we ensure and I think it is through the structure.  How do we
structurally ensure that the improvement interests of the smaller communities are met
and I don’t know the answer to that?  

Karen said be careful, because the first thing Nashua will say, we have subsidized all of
your water rates for generation.  Andrew stated should the District just be involved in
improving existing lines and if you want to add new lines to it, it is not done by the
District.  Karen stated that is short sided too.  Chairperson Peterman stated isn’t that
business decisions that the District has to make.  Mike stated we are also missing where
we started on this, that there has to be a mechanism either a) and I don’t know if we can
do it with the rates, but there has to be something that member municipalities get as an
advantage over those that are not members.  Chairperson Peterman stated, I might
agree with you on that, I don’t know that maybe it isn’t at rates or in this discussion.  If
we were thinking of this again, strictly as a company that we are running to provide
water, we would need to find out what Pennichuck does now.  Mike stated they take cost
and add 10% and return that to the ratepayers. 

Chairperson Peterman responded if Raymond or Windham comes to Pennichuck and
says we want to provide water to these 250 houses.  Andrew asked who pays for it right
now?  Chairperson Peterman stated not Pennichuck.  Andrew said so should a Regional
Water District be paying for that type of improvement.  Jay stated if your in Merrimack
and you are in the Merrimack Village District and you go and petition for the water line
with the exact same circumstances the District will pay for it if it passes.  Karen stated
that it is one of the advantages of the nonprofit over a profit driven company.  That is one
of the advantages of being a member of a nonprofit district is that we as a District can



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 12

approve water line extensions even if they don’t necessarily return a profit, because it is
in the publics interest.
 
Mary asked a question about rates.  If you take the profit motive out of the corporation
and the rates are all different at this point, but the rate payer may not know that any
changes have happened particularly if we take the profit motive out, then we can still run
a cleaner machine and make all the rates the same.  This will be a whole new structure.
Chairperson Peterman stated she tended to agree with Mike, I don’t know that it is in the
best interest of this District to have all the rates the same, maybe it is, maybe it is not,
maybe we can do it, maybe we cannot, I think that is a legal question for Chip.  If we
have PUC oversight I am not sure.

Mike stated I would guarantee you right now if we go to the City of Nashua and we are
proposing that everybody pays the same, that means you pay more and we pay less,
their 80% vote will say no way, start again.  Jay stated we want all the representation.
Mike stated maybe that is right and maybe it is wrong, but people who are hooked up
with Pennichuck Water Works pay more than the people that are with Manchester Water
Works, is that fair, I don’t know, but that is life, that is the way it goes.  Chairperson
Peterman stated that the PUC decided that.  Mike stated that Manchester Water Works
is not regulated by the PUC.  Chairperson Peterman stated she talked about the
Pennichuck system.  I remember when Amherst bought into that system and we became
a part of that Core system.  Mike responded that is a private entity.  Chairperson
Peterman stated that is right.  I don’t know how it would play out as a public entity in
terms.  Mike stated PUC has oversight on rates, it is right in the legislation. 

Ray stated if you were in industry, if you had 16 different divisions, what happens is 16
different budgets, 16 different capital improvement programs.  We should build in that in
the structure, each Town has a capital improvement program, some portion of that rate
is allocated to their bucket every year that is accumulated, it does not get returned to the
municipality, it stays in the District’s capital improvement budget, but it is broken down
by divisions, by the members so if there bucket, if they have 20,000 rate payers their
bucket gets 20,000 portions or 5,000 portions in Litchfield.  Jay responded based on
what they pay and number of ratepayers.  Ray continued they pay some percentage that
goes into their bucket and then in the mechanism in the structure build in a way that
Bedford could come into the District and petition to do this and the District cannot
arbitrarily deny them, especially if there is money in the bucket to do that.  If they have
500,000 dollars in their capital reserve bucket and this project is going to cost 200,000
then it would be automatic approval by the District.  Andrew added or some special
surcharge for capital improvement that doesn’t benefit the entire system.  Jean-Guy
stated that he really likes that as far as my ratepayers are paying that as long as that is
earmarked.  Say that Salem decides they want to buy water from the water district, but
they do not want to be a member.  Is their bucket filling for the whole district?  Karen
stated they don’t have a bucket.   Jean-Guy stated, but is that going to become the
whole District’s bucket.  Ray stated that 15% of that money would be portioned to the
member’s buckets.

Karen stated she has the statue that passed here.

Chairperson Peterman stated at the beginning won’t there be a study of what this
company has and what we need to do to keep the infrastructure.  Mike stated
Pennichuck I am sure has that.  Chairperson Peterman stated she asked that about



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 13

water.  Dennis stated they set the rates and working for a Town it is obvious the first
thing they put down is their profit which is 7% then they put down each cost, because we
went through this on rate setting and then everything goes underneath that and they
total it.  Karen White responded, pay yourself first.  Dennis responded we were not use
to that, it was a surprise to most of us, but that is businesses.  Mike stated our first line
will be say 2%, we wouldn’t call it profit, and we would call it reserve.  Clearly to me it
would be very easy to say, based on what each Town paid.  If at the end of the year
Merrimack paid 10% of all the revenue of the member communities, then 10% would go
into their bucket.  I think it is important that the member municipalities that stuck our
necks out get a reward.

Karen stated that the MPO does something similar to this with the pass through of
Federal highways.  You get little credits.  Bedford used some of its credits over on South
River Road.  Jay stated this is the analogy I was going to make; it is a system of credits
on your population.  There is no separate account it is just a credit that you have.  Karen
stated when you accumulate so many credits.  Jay responded you have to have a
qualifying project and apply for it.  Something similar could work, but I think it is critical
that it is based on a percentage of revenue contributed by the community not the
number of rate payers.  Mike stated because Budweiser is a huge business it isn’t fair to
say that that is one connection.  Karen stated that Londonderry would agree with you
because their rate is $4.29, where ours is $1.54.  Jay stated it would have to be a Core
system.  Mike said maybe you say 10% goes to the core system and the other 90%
goes proportionately to everyone else.

Chairperson Peterman stated where are we and lets bring us back.  Jean-Guy stated it
is in g), but it is really not acceptable.  Chairperson Peterman stated so what do we want
to do strike that.  The District shall approve such rates and charges unless it finds that
such rates and charges will provide funds in excess of the amounts required for the
purposes described previously in this section or unless it finds such rates and charges
will provide insufficient for such purposes.  We went back and said we need to have fund
capital reserves.  Do we need to add something else?  Dennis stated we need a g) and
h) to fund the buckets.  Jay said that the buckets might come in a little bit, but I don’t
understand why we have that sentence in a negative?  Ray stated it is not for profit.  It
looks like it is written in a fashion to make sure that that doesn’t happen.  Karen stated
that the District should approve such rates and charges unless it finds that somebody
has proposed a rate that is excessive or deficient.  Andrew stated he didn’t have a
problem with the way it reads, we fixed it with g) by saying that the capital improvement
fund was established.  Karen stated to fund capital reserves in compliance with the CIP
approved by the District.  Chairperson Peterman stated if we have something else like
an h) we can, that will cover.  Karen asked what do I write in buckets.  

Karen White asked Andrew to come up with wording for set up this credit system like
what is used for Federal Transportation Funds.   Andrew responded he would see what
he could do.

Chairperson Peterman stated h), i), j), k) we reserve for future use.

Chairperson Peterman goes on the rates or charges so established for any class of
users or property served shall be extended to cover any additional premises thereafter
served which are within the same class, without the necessity of a hearing thereon.
Chairperson Peterman asked for someone to explain it.  Jay stated if you are doing an



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 14

improvement and there is an area you would charge a different rate there then the next
person who comes on in that system pays the same rate and you don’t have another
hearing.  Karen stated if you expanded a water line in Amherst, the class that Amherst is
in is Core System, so the new houses served by that new waterline will still pay the
same rate.

Any change in such rates or charges shall be made in the same manner in which they
were established.  Such rates or charges if not paid when due shall constitute a lien
upon the premises served and a charge against the owners thereof, which lien land
charge shall bear interest at the same rate as would unpaid taxes.  Chairperson
Peterman stated that we are talking about ratepayers again.  Such liens shall take
precedence over all other liens or encumbrances except taxes and may be foreclosed
against the lot or building served in the same manner as a lien for taxes, provided all
such liens shall continue until such time as they shall be discharged or foreclosed by the
District without the necessity of filing certificates of continuation, but in no event for
longer than 10 years.  Chairperson Peterman stated those are defaults.  The amount of
any such rate or charge, which remains due and unpaid for thirty days, may, with interest
thereon at the same rate as unpaid taxes and with reasonable attorney’s fees, be
recovered by the District in a civil action in the name of the District.  Chairperson
Peterman stated that the last section talks about the nonpayment of bills.  Jay asked if
we could break out, as this is a really intense paragraph.  We started off at the thought of
having public hearing and setting rates and we are ending with collections.  Karen White
asked where it starts “Such rates”.  Chairperson Peterman stated we would make this a
new paragraph.  Karen White asked “Collection of rights”.  Chairperson Peterman stated
unpaid rate, unpaid collection as a new selection.  Mike Scanlon stated it might be a
good idea to send that paragraph to Chip and make sure what we can do legally.  A
know a Town can take a lien, but I don’t know if the District can.  Karen White stated she
is going to be sending a lot of this to him; she hated to send it out little by little.  Mike
stated he might want to come back with a different recommendation.  Mike stated circle
it as a note, Chip.  Chairperson Peterman stated we are going to call it a different section
and we are up to #7 and this would become #8 or a subparagraph?  

Chairperson Peterman went on reading on page 14, Any municipality shall be subject to
the same rate or charges under the same conditions as other users of such water supply
system?  This is in italics.  Karen White responded that this was something that we
talked early on before we were working through the charter and they wanted me to stick
in somewhere, but I think it is already said by the rates or charges so established for any
class of users or property shall be extended to cover any additional premises.  It is the
same thing that is why I wanted people to start working on the Charter.  I think it is
redundant.  Can we take it out?  Chairperson Peterman stated yes, just strike it out.

Chairperson Peterman asked if we could go on with #8.  Office of Consumer Affairs.
Mike asked the question is this something we really want to debate or is this something
that we send to an attorney.  Chairperson Peterman asked what.  Mike responded
Consumer Affairs Office that has to be a basic.  Chairperson Peterman said we will just
go down and we will be done fast.  As Mike stated he doesn’t know what laws govern
Consumer Affairs or Rights.  Karen stated as a non-profit corporation we could have an
office of Consumer Affairs for our District if we want one.  Chairperson Peterman stated I
know Barbara stated it was important.  Mike stated I’m not saying we shouldn’t have
one, but I am wondering if this is legal verbiage.  Chairperson Peterman stated lets go
through it quickly and sees if we agree.



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 15

Chairperson Peterman started reading a) The District shall establish an office of
consumer affairs to act as an advocate for consumer interests in all matters which may
affect consumers in the District, including without limitation matters of water quality and
supply.  The District unless otherwise provided by the state, shall pay the cost of such
office of consumer affairs.  Chairperson Peterman stated that we need to have some
place for consumers to go and I think it should be within the District itself as opposed to
having to go to the state.  Ray asked if the employee has to come in and advocate that
the rates are too high, what protects that employee it is a difficult thing to keep under the
same umbrella.  They are working against different purposes.  The employee is trying to
keep their job and representing a consumer that may be disgruntle in some fashion with
the District, his bosses.  Jay stated he doesn’t understand this section.  Dennis
mentioned if we are under PUC over sight, then wouldn’t the PUC act as the office as
opposed to if we weren’t and they wanted something.  Right now if you have a problem
as a ratepayer and you don’t agree you go to the PUC.  When we originally talked I don’t
think a lot of us thought we were going to be under the PUC.  Mike stated that the PUC
regulation is strictly the rates.  If you are dissatisfied with something else other than the
rate.  Chairperson Peterman stated and there is a lot to be dissatisfied.  Karen White
asked who do I appeal to about something within Manchester Water Works and whether
I get my elderly exemption.  Jay asked with any grievance, what does this accomplish.
Karen states it gives a voice to the consumer.  Jay stated he is not sure why this would
be in our charter; I’m not sure what it really does.  Andrew responded by stating it was
intended to be a mechanism to allow consumers to have a voice in the process.  Karen
agreed and added without reaching in to hire attorneys out of their own pocket.  Jay
stated, so the District funds and entity within itself.   Jay states you have a meter issue,
who does this person go and complain to the BOD about a meter, what do you do?
Karen stated the first thing this person would do, would be to go to operations and say,
have you received these 6 letters that this guy has sent, why haven’t you been out there,
can I tell them when you will go out there.  This person had to have the authority to pull
the bills this person paid for the last 6 months, read the meter reader charges on it and
bring it to someone in Operations attention.  Is this an average of what other people in
the same neighborhood are paying?  

Ray re-reads that the charter now states, “Including without limitations matters of rates,
water quality and supply.  Get rid of the rates and you move this off into the business
model, this is a job function of somebody in the Operations Dept that their job is to take
care of Consumer Complaints.  Andrew stated it doesn’t need to be in the charter.
Chairperson Peterman states so this is either a person or Dept that is run by the
Corporation under the CEO.  Mike states if we want to make sure it is there we can just
charge the BOD that they would have the right to create this position if they so desire.
Chairperson Peterman stated if it is something we want, not the right to create.  Karen
asked if she should re-work this as a Dept of the District.  Mike stated as a Dept. of the
BOD or maybe you get two members from the ratepayer board and two members from
another board.  

Chairperson Peterman asked Jay the question that at one time we had talked about
subcommittees or subgroups, is this subgroup?  Jay responded that this might be a
good alternative to make it a subcommittee of either the representative board or the
BOD.  Mike stated it gives them the authority that they can ask employees to produce
certain records as needed.  They would have the right to say, we want to see the bills,
we want to see the record of complaints they made and see any records of what you



REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT MINUTES – July 24, 2003- Page 16

tried to do to help this person with their problem.  Mike stated it doesn’t have to be a
person.  Chairperson Peterman stated it could be an employee plus a paid person with
staff.  Mike states this could be a full time job doing this, let’s hire someone to do it or
they could just ask a person to handle it.  Chairperson Peterman stated it could be a
paid person with two people either staff or representative from the BOD.  Dennis then
stated we would need someone to deal with abatements.  Jay stated we have to be
careful to define, if you say have staff supporting a committee we have to be careful to
define the authority.  It should have the authority to grant the abatement and there
should be some criteria.  Karen stated just like a Zoning Board.  Chairperson Peterman
stated like Water Board of Adjustments.  Jay stated that the grievance should be most
likely in writing and it should be within 30 days.  Karen stated we don’t have to write all
the by-laws, all we have to do in the charter is say we are setting up a Water Board of
Adjustments, who shall set-up the criteria for decisions.  Mike stated that this board
should have the authority to request documentation from the District, that it has authority
to render decisions based on testimony and reports directly to so and so and the District
must fund it.  It should be members, a combination of the ratepayer’s board and the
BOD so you have some people who are more familiar with the Operations, the BOD and
the people that are representative of the ratepayers.  

Chairperson Peterman says if we go back to that committee idea, we have an
Operations person that is an employee and a combination of all of the groups you just
said a BOD person, a ratepayer person and an Operations person.  Mike stated like a 3
or 4 person group.  Chairperson Peterman stated we could set parameters for a 5-
person board.  Dennis stated in dealing with abatements in my town we have one
person from Accounting because they deal with the bills, the Town Manager and myself
in order to abate anything.  Chairperson Peterman asked Dennis, because you deal with
it, is it possible for you to come up with some of the things that they will need to do.
Dennis stated he would come up with a structure and send it to Karen.

Chairperson Peterman asked to accept a motion to adjourn.

Adjournment

The meeting was adjourned at 8:15 p.m. on a motion by Dennis McCarthy and seconded
by Mary Jeffery.  Motion passed unanimously.

Submitted by:  Jane O’Brien

# 16048


	July 24, 2003

